Appeal No. 19-CF-902

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court
Received 05/01/2024 04:23 PM
Filed 05/01/2024 04:23 PM

EL HADJI TOURE,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, CRIMINAL DIVISION

No. 2017-CF1-5232

Brief of Appellant El Hadji Toure

HOLLAND & KNIGHT LLP

Steven D. Gordon (D.C. Bar No. 219287) Sean Belanger (D.C. Bar No. 1766410)* 800 17th Street, N.W., Suite 1100 Washington, D.C. 20006 steven.gordon@hklaw.com sean.belanger@hklaw.com

Tel: (202) 955-3000 Fax: (202) 955-5564

* Counsel for Oral Argument

PARTIES AND COUNSEL

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This appeal is from the final judgment of conviction entered against Mr. Toure in Superior Court Case Number 2017-CF1-5232. Mr. Toure was sentenced on September 27, 2019. Notices of appeal were timely filed on September 30, 2019.

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Whether the trial erred in denying Mr. Toure's motion for a new trial based on a *Brady* violation where the Government failed to disclose evidence the defense could have used to impeach the competence and credibility of five of the 11 Department of Forensic Sciences ("DFS") employees who testified at trial and where the forensic evidence was the cornerstone of the entirely circumstantial case against Mr. Toure.
- 2. Whether the trial court deprived Mr. Toure of his right to confrontation after it came to light that the prosecutor had smuggled inadmissible evidence into the trial via a coached police witness by refusing to allow the defense to call the prosecutor as a witness and cross-examine him.
- 3. Whether Mr. Toure's convictions for premeditated murder merges with his felony murder convictions and whether Mr. Toure's convictions for felony murder merge with the underlying felonies.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Toure was prosecuted for first degree murder and other offenses related to the death of C.M. (or "victim") in her Capitol Hill apartment on March 20, 2017. After a lengthy jury trial, he was convicted of 13 counts, including premeditated murder, first degree sexual abuse, four counts of felony murder, kidnapping while armed, first degree burglary while armed, armed robbery, first degree theft, unauthorized use of a vehicle, credit card fraud, and first degree identity theft. He was sentenced to life in prison without release in September 2019.

Thereafter, while this appeal was pending, Mr. Toure filed a motion for a new trial in the Superior Court after learning that the Government had not complied with its disclosure obligations regarding certain DFS witnesses. The proceedings on that motion were protracted and ultimately concluded with a hearing on January 25, 2024, at which the court denied the motion.

The issue here is whether Mr. Toure received a fair trial. The case against him was entirely circumstantial and, while the evidence was sufficient to support a conviction, the outcome might have been different if Mr. Toure had not been precluded from attacking that evidence in two key respects. First, *Brady* evidence was withheld which showed that five DFS witnesses who had collected or tested evidence in this case had been disciplined in other matters for violations of applicable DFS protocols for collecting, handling, or testing evidence. Second, at

the end of the Government's case, the lead prosecutor presented a police witness whom he had improperly coached to provide inadmissible hearsay testimony to rebut a line of defense challenging the adequacy of the investigation. When this blatant misconduct was exposed, the court gave inadequate curative instructions and refused to permit the defense to call the prosecutor as a witness and cross-examine him about these issues. These actions crippled the ability of the defense to effectively challenge the Government's case. Accordingly, this Court should vacate Mr. Toure's convictions and remand this case for a new trial.

In the alternative, if Mr. Toure's convictions are not vacated, this Court should remand to the trial court for resentencing because Mr. Toure cannot receive multiple convictions and punishments for the same crime. Here he has been convicted and sentenced for five different counts of first degree murder based on one death, and for four separate counts of felony murder as well as the predicate felonies.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. Overview

The victim's body was discovered in her Capitol Hill apartment on March 18, 2017, and the evidence indicated that she had been killed during the afternoon of the preceding day. Her car and some of her belongings were missing. Someone had started using her credit and debit cards at ATMs at gas stations and convenience stores in Maryland and Virginia. The police publicized some of the ATM videos

and ultimately arrested Mr. Toure on the morning of March 27, 2017, after a tip from a citizen.

Videos from security cameras showed a man who looked like Mr. Toure walking near the block where the victim resided on March 17, 2017, before her time of death.

Forensic evidence analyzed by DFS and an independent laboratory indicated that Mr. Toure's DNA was present on swabs that were recovered from the victim's body, and that her DNA was recovered from the pocket of Mr. Toure's backpack.

The jury trial in this matter began February 25, 2019, and concluded almost four weeks later, on March 20, 2019. There were no eyewitnesses to the offenses and the Government relied entirely on circumstantial evidence. It called more than sixty witnesses and its exhibit list ran over 40 pages. The Government argued that the video evidence placed Mr. Toure near the scene of the offense at the relevant time and showed him driving the victim's car and using her credit and debit cards after the offense. But the heart of the Government's case was the forensic DNA evidence. The defense argued that, under pressure to close a high profile case, the Government rushed to judgment and conducted a flawed investigation.

II. Pretrial Ruling on DFS Q-CARs

Prior to trial, and over the Government's objections, the trial court ruled that DFS must disclose to the defense all DFS Quality Corrective Action Reports ("Q-

CARs") naming "individuals who are involved in the evidence collection, maintenance, and testing in this case." (App. 0011–15 (2/14/19 Transcript).)¹ The Court explained why the Q-CARs were relevant:

to assess that individual's competency, assess their compliance with the rules and regulations and standard operating procedures of DFS, as well as secondarily, I think, knowing whether or not they have been the subject of any type of corrective or disciplinary action themselves and whether that may have impacted it in any way on the handling of the evidence in this particular case.

(*Id.* at 0005.)

The Government produced several Q-CARS for the DFS employees involved in collecting or testing evidence in Mr. Toure's case. However, as discussed below, the Government omitted 13 relevant Q-CARs, three relevant reprimands, and two relevant suspensions relating to five of the 11 testifying witnesses from DFS.

III. Trial

A. DFS Witnesses Testimony

At trial, the Government called 11 DFS employees to testify about the forensic evidence in Mr. Toure's case. These witnesses included: (1) Amanda Mendez (App. 0019–61 (3/4/19 Transcript)); (2) Samantha Bischof (App. 0062–85 (3/6/19 Transcript)); (3) Julie Ferragut (App. 0086–90 (3/6/19 Transcript)); (4) Andrew Feiter (App. 0016–19 (3/4/19 Transcript)); and (5) Shana Mills (App. 0091–0252

¹ Citations to pages of Mr. Toure's Court of Appeals Rule 30(f) Appendix are indicated by "App. ___."

(3/11/19 Transcript)). As discussed below in the section on post-trial proceedings, it later developed that potential impeachment evidence regarding each of these witnesses had been withheld from the defense.

1. Amanda Mendez processed Mr. Toure's vehicle for DNA and other evidence in the DFS garage area. (See generally App. 0019–61 (3/4/19 Transcript).) In the vehicle's trunk, Ms. Mendez found a black backpack with a single spot of the victim's blood inside one of the backpack's pockets. (Id.) Ms. Mendez collected and packaged all the evidence obtained from Mr. Toure's car and transported it to the Central Evidence Unit ("CEU") located two floors above the garage area. (Id. at 0052-53.) At trial she testified that the items collected from Mr. Toure's vehicle never left her possession and were not "contaminated or tampered with in any way." (*Id.*) However, on cross examination, the defense established that Ms. Bischof was processing the victim's car adjacent to her while Ms. Mendez was processing Mr. Toure's car. (Id. at 0057–60.) When asked on re-direct what steps she took to avoid cross-contamination between the two vehicles, Ms. Mendez acknowledged that processing two vehicles at the same place and at the same time was "not normal." (Id. at 0060.) But she failed to identify any specific steps she took to avoid crosscontamination in such circumstances. (Id.) The defense also questioned Ms. Mendez about a cooler that was in the trunk of Mr. Toure's car and was not collected by her, but which was no longer in the vehicle when a defense investigator later examined the car. (*Id.* at 0056–57.)

- 2. Samantha Bischof processed the victim's car in the same garage and at the same time Ms. Mendez was processing Mr. Toure's car and testified that she took steps to maintain the integrity of the evidence collected. (*See generally* App. 0062–85 (3/6/19 Transcript).) However, during cross-examination, Ms. Bischof admitted that she was not aware that Mr. Toure's car was being process at the same time and in close proximity to where she was processing the victim's car. (*Id.* at 0081–82.) On redirect, Ms. Bischof shrugged off any implication that there could have been cross-contamination between the victim's and Mr. Toure's cars, but she did not identify any special effort she made to prevent cross-contamination given the close proximity of the vehicles. (*Id.* at 0085.)
- 3. Julie Ferragut was the DFS employee who performed DNA and serological testing on, inter alia, the victim's blood card and the swabs taken from the victim's intimate area (i.e., the sperm fractions from the external genitalia, the perianal buttock area, and the thighs), as well as buccal swabs from Mr. Toure. (App. 0086–90 (3/6/19 Transcript).) At trial, she briefly testified about the steps she performed with respect to these swabs.
- 4. Andrew Feiter was the DFS employee who performed DNA and serological testing on two different areas of Mr. Toure's backpack. (App. 0016–19 (3/4/19

Transcript).) At trial, he briefly testified about the steps he took to complete this "capillary electrophoresis CE setup" for Mr. Toure's case.

5. Shana Mills was qualified as an expert in DNA analysis and accompanying statistics and served as the "reporting analyst" summarizing the relevant results of the DNA and Serological testing performed on the intimate swabs from the victim and the samples from Mr. Toure's backpack. (See App. 0091–0252 (3/11/19) Transcript).) In order to qualify as an expert, Ms. Mills explained that she received specialized training, underwent routine competency tests, and was familiar with all DFS standard operating procedures. (Id.) Ms. Mills explained how she relies on DFS's quality assurance procedures to ensure that her test results are reliable. (Id. at 0111–12.) She emphasized that, for her conclusions to be reliable, all individuals involved in handling evidence must follow standard operating procedures. (Id.) After explaining the evidence collection and testing processes employed in this case, Ms. Mills testified that there was an extremely high probability that Mr. Toure's DNA was present in the intimate swabs that were recovered from the victim's body (id. at 0167–69) and that the victim's DNA was in a sample recovered from one of the pockets of Mr. Toure's backpack (id. at 0162–67, 0169).

During cross examination, the Defense questioned Ms. Mills about the presence of male DNA in the victim's reference sample and whether this fact could be indicative of contamination between evidence samples and reference samples.

(*Id.* at 0216–25.) Ms. Mills was flustered by this line of questioning but maintained that DFS's procedures would have protected against contamination. (*Id.*)

B. Keith Batton Testimony

The Government's final witness was Keith Batton, a detective sergeant at the Homicide Branch. (App. at 0253 (3/12/19 Transcript).) He supervised the squad of six detectives who investigated C.M.'s murder. (*Id.* at 0253–56.) He testified about various steps that the police had taken during the course of the investigation, tying together or explaining evidence that the Government had introduced during the course of its case.

Of note here, he testified that he and his colleagues had learned that C.M. had a web site and had viewed that site in order to learn more about her. (App. 0269.) One item on the web site was C.M.'s 2013 art project entitled "All The Clothes." Sgt. Batton was shown a particular photograph from the project that depicted C.M., nude, lying face down on the floor with a pile of clothes next to her left side and some clothes on top of her. (*Id.* at 0270; *see also id.* at 0385 (3/13/19 Transcript) (describing the image depicted in the photograph).) He testified that he and his colleagues had seen this picture early in their investigation and "it was striking to us" because of the resemblance to how C.M.'s body was found at the crime scene. (App. 0271–72 (3/12/19 Transcript).) At this point, the prosecutor elicited the following testimony:

Q And so after seeing the web site did detectives take any efforts to contact the domain, the web hosting service that hosted this web site?

A They did.

Q What kind of information was this domain, Format.com, able to provide, if you're aware?

A They provided a number of mobile links that had viewed it.

Q Like mobile IP addresses?

A Correct.

Q Were those mobile IP addresses able to lead to any useful leads in terms of figuring out actual people who viewed the web site?

A They were not.

(*Id.* at 0272–73.)

At a bench conference upon the conclusion of Sgt. Batton's direct examination, defense counsel flagged the testimony about the web site and objected that no pretrial discovery about this issue had been provided to the defense. Defense counsel argued that although the defense had located this photograph through its own investigation, the defense "should have been given the information that the detectives looked into this, that they found it striking, that they then looked at IP addresses, and they did some sort of investigation to see if they could find out the mobile IPs that had viewed it" (*Id.* at 0295–96.) The defense argued that the Government's failure to disclose its investigation into the photograph adversely affected the presentation of the Defense because its theory of the case was that the

Government failed to investigate other leads. (*Id.* at 0296.) Accordingly, the defense requested an opportunity to question Sgt. Batton outside the presence of the prosecutors about the scope of its investigation. (*Id.* at 0308.) The trial court agreed with the defense that the Government should have disclosed these details on the significance and scope of its investigation into the photograph. (*Id.* at 0304, 0309.)

Because the continued viability of the "failure to investigate" defense might depend on what Sgt. Batton said, the next day, the trial court conducted a voir dire of Sgt. Batton on this issue, outside the presence of the jury, as well as the trial prosecutors. (App. 0310–16 (3/13/19 Transcript).) During the voir dire, Sgt. Batton testified that he personally had seen the "striking" photo on C.M.'s website the day that her body had been found. (*Id.* at 0317–18.) However, Sgt. Batton explained that he had not conducted any investigation of this photo nor was he aware of any member of law enforcement conducting an investigation into the website. (Id. at 0321-22.) Rather, on the evening before he testified, AUSA Nestler (the lead prosecutor) told him that the U.S. Attorney's Office's had investigated the IP addresses that had visited C.M.'s web site. (*Id.* at 0323–24.) Sgt. Batton further explained that his testimony to the jury on this topic was based entirely on what AUSA Nestler told him—that these IP addresses were not useful. (*Id.* at 0325–29.) Sgt. Batton did not know what steps, if any, AUSA Nestler took to investigate the IP addresses and Sgt. Batton did not take any steps to independently verify the

information AUSA Nestler told him. Nor was he aware of any other member of law enforcement that independently verified AUSA Nestler's investigation of C.M.'s website. (*Id.*)

At the conclusion of the voir dire, the Court found that everything Sgt. Batton had testified to about the web site was based upon hearsay. She also found that the jury could have been misled by Sgt. Batton's testimony because:

[AUSA Nestler] pos[ed] the questions to Sergeant Batton in such a way that frankly I was left with the impression, and I'm sure the jury was left with the impression, that members of the Metropolitan Police Department actively sought out these IP addresses. They followed up on those IP addresses and they led nowhere.

(*Id.* at 0331–32.)

The parties then debated the issue of the appropriate remedy for this misconduct. The defense requested either that the court declare a mistrial and a dismissal with prejudice or issue an instruction that would advise the jury "that Mr. Nestler deliberately elicited inadmissible evidence to counteract the Defense's theory and argument about the case." (*Id.* at 0332–34.)

The court did not grant either request but allowed the defense an opportunity "to explore with Sergeant Batton on cross exactly what it was that happened with some type of an instruction to the jury that omits any conclusion that what was done here was prosecutorial misconduct." (*Id.* at 0341.) The defense countered that "we

still need to hear testimony from Mr. Nestler." (*Id.*) The Court rejected this request, and explained:

I am prepared to preclude the Government from introducing any evidence about any investigative steps that they may have taken, whether that be in the grand jury or other detectives or officers who Sergeant Batton was unaware of who may have followed up on those IP addresses.

I think that squarely addresses any prejudice that the defense may have suffered, and I believe that that completely alleviates the need at least within the four corners of this trial to take testimony from Mr. Nestler. The Government is not going to be able to gain any sort of strategic advantage as a result of the conversation with Sergeant Batton.

(*Id.* at 0343.)

Subsequently, Sgt. Batton resumed his testimony before the jury and was cross-examined by the defense on all aspects of his direct testimony, including his testimony about the investigation of the web site. (*Id.* at 0358.) He recounted his meeting with AUSA Nestler and admitted that the only information he had about the investigation of the IP addresses came from AUSA Nestler. (*Id.* at 0385–88.) Immediately after that testimony, the court gave the jury the following instruction:

Ladies and gentlemen, yesterday the Government elicited testimony from Sergeant Batton about investigating IP addresses related to [C.M.'s] web site. You have just heard evidence that, in fact, Sergeant Batton did not have personal knowledge of any investigation into IP addresses for [C.M.'s] web site.

Instead the Government told this information to Sergeant Batton during a meeting the night before Sergeant Batton testified. The Government then elicited this information during Sergeant Batton's direct examination as if Sergeant Batton knew the information about the IP addresses personally.

A witness may only testify to information that is within his or her personal knowledge. A lawyer cannot tell information to a witness and then elicit that information from the witness as if it came from the witness' own personal knowledge.

You may consider this evidence, along with all of the other evidence in the case, and give it as much weight as in your judgment it deserves in determining whether the Government has proven the charges in this case beyond a reasonable doubt.

(Id. at 0388–89.)

On re-direct examination, the Government sought to introduce evidence about the grand jury process and the defense objected to this request. (*Id.* at 0390–91.) The court limited the Government to introducing a copy of the grand jury subpoena for the IP address information. The Court explained its ruling as follows:

What I'm prepared to allow the Government to establish, because I understand that this is an established fact that the defense is not in a position to dispute, is that these IP addresses or the IP records associated with the domain for [C.M.'s] web site, those were subpoenaed by the Government.

But it's my understanding based on Sergeant Batton's testimony that ... law enforcement, did not follow-up on that. As I also indicated in the conversation, I'm not interested in making Mr. Nestler a witness in this case and I am concerned that eliciting any testimony about what may have happened in the grand jury that was under the supervision of Mr. Nestler would fall right into that pitfall.

(*Id.* at 0391–92.) Ultimately, the subpoena was admitted and the parties stipulated that "after reviewing the data received from Format, which was the subject of the

subpoena, the Government took no further steps to identify the accountholders of the IP addresses." (*Id.* at 0400.)

Upon concluding Sgt. Batton's testimony, the Government rested its case. (*Id.* at 0408.) That same day, the defense presented its case² and the Government presented brief rebuttal.

The next day, the defense moved to reopen its case for the purpose of questioning AUSA Nestler. Defense counsel noted that Sgt. Batton's improper testimony had been elicited by the Government to counteract the defense argument that a potentially significant clue, the photograph from the web site, had not been adequately investigated. The defense argued this evidence was especially important because:

[a]s the evidence stands now, the Government has essentially won that point without proffering or putting forward any legitimate evidence because, at present, the Government has left the jury with the impression that it hoped to leave it with, that there was an investigation into [C.M.'s] website, counter the defense's argument, that the Government did look into this photograph, that the Government did obtain IP information received, there was just no way to follow-up on the information or investigate further.

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