BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 19-CF-902

EL HADJI TOURE,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

> MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB JEFFREY S. NESTLER

 * DANIEL J. LENERZ DC Bar #888283905 Assistant United States Attorneys

Counsel for Oral Argument
601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232
Washington, D.C. 20530
Daniel.Lenerz@usdoj.gov
(202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2017-CF1-5232

* * * *

Clerk of the Court Received 10/04/2024 10:32 AM Filed 10/04/2024 10:32 AM

Appellant,

Appellee.

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

That evening, the government sent the court the subpoena to Format, Format's response, a spreadsheet the government created using the data provided by Format, and the letter providing these materials to the defense before trial (R.937-38). The government explained that, using the data provided by Format, an analyst had "created a comprehensive, more-user-friendly spreadsheet," which had been provided to the defense (R.937). One of the spreadsheet's tabs "list[ed] the IP

addresses accessing [C.M.'s] website during the likely time of the murder" (R.937-38). There were "five unique IP addresses" that had done so: one "belonging to the City of New York," and four "mobile IP addresses," which are "shared by many different devices and users" and thus "would not easily allow an investigator to determine which particular device or user . . . accessed the website" (R.938).

The next morning, the court allowed the defense to question Sergeant Batton outside the trial prosecutors' presence (but with their supervisor present) (3/13/19 Tr. 7-14). Sergeant Batton testified that he had not conducted an investigation into C.M.'s website and was not aware of any other person from MPD having conducted such an investigation (*id.* at 17-19). The night before he testified, a prosecutor showed Sergeant Batton documents with IP addresses and "a request for the domain's information" (*id.* at 20-21). Sergeant Batton had not seen the documents before, and his "knowledge about what the[] IP addresses mean[t] c[ame] purely from what [the prosecutor] told [him]" (*id.* at 20-25).

Finding that Sergeant Batton's trial testimony about the investigation into the IP addresses "was based upon hearsay," and given its "obligation . . . to ensure that Mr. Toure receives a fair trial," the court suggested that it could strike the relevant portion of Sergeant Batton's testimony and instruct the jury "that, in fact, MPD did not request these IP addresses and did not track down any leads" (3/13/19 Tr. 28-29). The defense instead asked to cross-examine Sergeant Batton, and for the court

to instruct the jury that there was no "investigation into these IP addresses" and that the prosecutor had committed "intentional misconduct to bolster the Government's case against Mr. Toure because the Government felt its case is weak" (*id.* at 31).

The prosecutors' supervisor responded that this request "would require the Court to lie to the jury" (3/13/19 Tr. 31). Witnesses "can testify in summary at times about an entire investigation. That investigation would include the grand jury investigation in certain appropriate times." (*Id.* at 33.) And "law enforcement" includes not just MPD, but "also the grand jury and the U.S. Attorney's Office" (*id.* at 32). It was "very clear that someone in law enforcement, mainly [the trial prosecutor], was pushing this issue at that time. So it is misleading to let this jury think that MPD is asleep at the switch and no one is doing anything." (*Id.* at 36.) Although the prosecutor's questions may have been "[p]oorly worded" insofar as they left the impression that detectives, rather than the grand jury, investigated the IP addresses, this distinction was not significant in terms "of what the defense [wa]s trying to put before the jury," which was a failure to investigate (*id.* at 37).

The trial court concluded that it would "preclude the Government from introducing any evidence about any investigative steps that [it] may have taken," whether "in the grand jury" or by "other detectives or officers . . . who may have followed up on those IP addresses" (3/13/19 Tr. 40). The court believed this ruling "squarely addresse[d] any prejudice that the defense may have suffered" and

"completely alleviate[d] the need . . . to take testimony from" the prosecutor (*id*.). Indeed, its ruling "[a]rguably . . . put[] the defense in a better position" than it would have been otherwise, because the defense was "allowed to elicit that in fact the Metropolitan Police Department did not follow-up on any of these IP addresses," and the government was "precluded from seeking to introduce any investigative steps that were taken in connection with the IP addresses" (*id*. at 40-41).

Ultimately, on cross-examination, the defense elicited testimony from Sergeant Batton that MPD had not investigated C.M.'s website; the first time he learned anything about IP addresses was two nights before, when the prosecutor showed him a document; and all he knew about what the document meant came from the prosecutor (3/13/19 Tr. 82-85). The trial court then instructed the jury:

Ladies and gentlemen, yesterday the Government elicited testimony from Sergeant Batton about investigating IP addresses related to Ms. M[.]'s web site.

You have just heard evidence that, in fact, Sergeant Batton did not have personal knowledge of any investigation into IP addresses for Ms. M[.]'s web site. Instead, the Government told this information to Sergeant Batton during a meeting the night before Sergeant Batton testified. The Government then elicited this information during Sergeant Batton's direct examination as if Sergeant Batton knew the information about the IP addresses personally.

A witness may only testify to information that is within his or her personal knowledge. A lawyer cannot tell information to a witness and then elicit that information from the witness as if it came from the witness' own personal knowledge. You may consider this evidence, along with all of the other evidence in the case, and give it as much weight as in your judgment it deserves in determining whether the Government has proven the charges in this case beyond a reasonable doubt.

(3/13/19 Tr. 85-86.)

The government sought to question Sergeant Batton on redirect about how a grand jury works, but the trial court denied that request (3/13/19 Tr. 88-91). However, because it was "an established fact," the court allowed the government to show that the grand jury had subpoenaed the IP records associated with C.M.'s website (*id.* at 88-89). After the government introduced into evidence the grand jury subpoena, the court instructed the jury that "after reviewing the data received from Format, which was the subject of the subpoena, the Government took no further steps to identify the accountholders of the IP addresses" (3/13/19 Tr. 97; Exh. 3005). The defense put on its case and rested later that day (3/13/19 Tr. 177).

The next morning, the defense asked to reopen its case to call the prosecutor as a witness (3/14/19 Tr. 2). Defense counsel asserted that only the prosecutor could explain "why the Government decided not to pursue the information in these records," and whether "investigating this photograph on Ms. M[.]'s website . . . was the [subpoena's] real purpose or even primary purpose" (*id.* at 4). The defense speculated that the subpoena may have been issued "to see if there was a link between Mr. Toure and the March 3rd case" (*id.*). The trial court denied the defense's request. The court noted that it had given Toure a choice between striking Sergeant Batton's testimony and cross-examining him followed by an instruction from the court (3/14/19 Tr. 7-8). Toure's concerns had been "squarely addressed" by Sergeant Batton's "very candid" testimony "that he didn't have any personal knowledge" of the IP addresses, "combined with the instruction that Sergeant Batton was furnished this information by the Government, and that this is not permissible behavior by an attorney" (*id.* at 8). Nothing more would "be gleaned by placing [the prosecutor] under oath" (*id.*). And although the government introduced the grand jury subpoena into evidence, the court told the jury that "the Government took no further steps to identify the account holders of the IP addresses," which fell "squarely within the defense theory . . . and was specifically crafted in such a way as to minimize any prejudice" to Toure (*id.* at 8-9).

In closing argument, defense counsel asserted that "the Government knew that th[e] photograph [from C.M.'s art project] [wa]s a reason to doubt, and so they tried to . . . manipulate the evidence so that you would pay it no mind, you wouldn't worry about the investigation into this photograph" (3/18/19 Tr. 102). Counsel argued that Sergeant Batton had testified falsely that detectives investigated the photo, when in fact he had gotten the information from the prosecutor the night before his testimony (*id.* at 103). Defense counsel urged that "[t]his photograph, this manipulation of the evidence, this lack of investigation into the photograph is reasonable doubt" (*id.* at

104). In rebuttal, the government pointed out that the grand jury had subpoenaed Format for all IP addresses that had accessed C.M.'s website (*id.* at 144-45).

B. Discussion.

Toure argues (at 33-40) that the trial court committed reversible error when it refused his request to reopen the defense case to call the trial prosecutor as a witness. The law is clear that "a defendant who wishes to call a prosecutor as a witness must demonstrate a compelling and legitimate reason to do so." United States v. Regan, 103 F.3d 1072, 1083 (2d Cir. 1997); see also, e.g., United States v. Ortero, 37 F.3d 739, 746 (1st Cir. 1994); United States v. Roberson, 897 F.2d 1092, 1098 (11th Cir. 1990); United States v. Prantil, 764 F.2d 548, 554 (9th Cir. 1985); Gatlin v. United States, 925 A.2d 594, 604 (D.C. 2007) (citing "compelling need" standard). "Requests for such testimony are disfavored, and the party seeking such testimony must demonstrate that the evidence is vital to his case, and that his inability to present the same or similar facts from another source creates a compelling need for the testimony." United States v. Ziesman, 409 F.3d 941, 950 (8th Cir. 2005) (quotation marks omitted); see also, e.g., United States v. Wooten, 377 F.3d 1134, 1143 (10th Cir. 2004); United States v. Ashman, 979 F.2d 469, 494 (7th Cir. 1992); United States v. Atman, 1998 WL 211767, at *4 (6th Cir. Apr. 22, 1998).

The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it denied Toure's request to reopen his case to call the prosecutor as a witness. *See generally Ziesman*, 409 F.3d

at 950 (applying abuse of discretion standard); *Wooten*, 377 F.3d at 1143 (same); Ashman, 979 F.2d at 494 (same). As the trial court correctly recognized, Toure identified no compelling need to do so. Sergeant Batton's initial inaccurate testimony that MPD had investigated C.M.'s website-which, the court noted, was "a very brief portion of [his] direct testimony" (3/13/19 Tr. 33)—was "squarely addressed" by his subsequent "very candid" testimony "that he didn't have any personal knowledge" of any such investigation, "combined with the instruction that Sergeant Batton was furnished this information by the Government, and that this is not permissible behavior" (3/14/19 Tr. 7-8). Specifically, Sergeant Batton admitted on cross-examination that MPD had not investigated C.M.'s website; the first time he learned about IP addresses was two nights before, when the prosecutor showed him a document; and his knowledge of what the document meant came from the prosecutor (3/13/19 Tr. 82-85). The court then instructed the jury that "[a] lawyer cannot tell information to a witness and then elicit that information from the witness as if it came from the witness' own personal knowledge" (id. at 85-86). And, after the government introduced the grand jury subpoena into evidence, the court told the jury that "after reviewing the data received from Format . . . the Government took no further steps to identify the accountholders of the IP addresses" (id. at 97).

This evidence allowed the defense to argue in closing not only that MPD had failed to investigate whether "the person who killed [C.M.] was someone known to

her or someone who knew her art," but also that the government "tried to . . . manipulate the evidence so that . . . you wouldn't worry about the investigation into this photograph" from C.M.'s website (3/18/19 Tr. 101-02). In other words, after the trial court's corrective actions, the defense was able both to assert its failure-to-investigate defense and also to urge that the government had improperly manipulated evidence to make its case appear stronger. Under these circumstances, the court acted well within its discretion when denied Toure's request to call the prosecutor as a witness.

On appeal, Toure concedes that "Sgt. Batton ultimately admitted that he knew nothing about any investigation of C.M.'s web site and had simply repeated information that was provided to him by" a trial prosecutor, and he acknowledges that the trial court instructed the jury this was improper (Br. at 36). Toure claims, however, that he needed to question the prosecutor in front of the jury about the steps the prosecutor took to investigate the IP addresses that accessed C.M.'s website (*id.* at 37). There was no need for that inquiry, however, because the defense obtained the best possible outcome through the trial court's court instruction to the jury that, "after reviewing the data received from Format . . . the Government took no further steps to identify the accountholders of the IP addresses" (3/13/19 Tr. 97). Given this instruction, Toure is incorrect that the government somehow "left the jury with the impression that it hoped to leave it with, that there was an investigation into [C.M.'s]

website" (Br. at 36 (quotation marks omitted)). In fact, had the prosecutor testified, his answers would have only undermined Toure's failure-to-investigate defense: the prosecutor would have explained that the government had, in fact, attempted to identify who accessed C.M.'s website at the time of the murder (see R.937-38).

Toure's suggestion that he needed to call the prosecutor to investigate whether the IP records were "simply an effort to tie Mr. Toure to the March 3 rape" (Br. at 37) is likewise meritless. It is unclear how the prosecutor's reason for subpoenaing the IP records is relevant to Toure's guilt of raping and murdering C.M. And even if the prosecutor had been attempting to investigate Toure's guilt of a different crime, that motivation would in no way establish Toure's innocence in this case. In any event, the prosecutor explained to the court that "the focus of the grand jury investigation" was identifying who had accessed C.M.'s website "during the likely time of the murder" (R.937-38). The spreadsheet the government's analyst created backed that up (*id.*). Toure's speculation that the prosecutor might testify to a different motivation hardly establishes a vital need for the prosecutor's testimony.

Moreover, as Toure admits, requiring the prosecutor "to take the stand and then to withdraw from the case would have created a commotion" (Br. at 38). Contrary to Toure's claim (at 38), there was no "reflexive refusal" to deny his request to put the prosecutor on the witness stand. Rather, the trial court allowed additional cross-examination and issued appropriate jury instructions—remedial steps often taken by judges in similar circumstances. *See, e.g., Crawford v. United States*, 932 A.2d 1147, 1158-59 (D.C. 2007) ("the traditional remedy for a violation of a court order prohibiting witnesses from discussing their testimony with anyone else is cross-examination") (citing *Geders v. United States*, 425 U.S. 80, 89-90 (1976)).

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